Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024

Page 1 of 30

FILED 11-13-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT Appeal No. 2024AP001622

In re the Termination of the Parental Right to: N.V.M., a person under the age of 18:

Waukesha County Department of Health & Human Services,
Petitioner-Respondent-Respondent,

VS.

M.M.M.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory Bates Attorney at Law, 1018846 PO Box 70 Kenosha, Wisconsin 53141-0070 (262) 657-3082 Gbates1407@gmail.com

##

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. Was the jury verdict and the trial court's unfitness finding clearly erroneous?

<u>Trial Court Treatment</u>: The trial court found M.M.M. to be an unfit parent under the grounds of Continuing CHIPS and Failure to Assume Parental Responsibility after receiving the jury's verdict.

II. Was there sufficient evidence that termination of M.M.M.'s parental rights was in N.V.M.'s best interest?

<u>Trial Court Treatment</u>: The trial court here answered yes when it entered the orders terminating M.M.M.'s parental rights.

### **CRITERIA FOR REVIEW**

While the issues here involve the exercise of court discretion, there is precedent for courts granting discretionary appellate review even where the only issue presented is the discretionary actions of the circuit court and the Court of Appeals. See *State v. Grant*, 139 Wis. 2d 45, 406 N.W.2d 744 (1987) (single issue was whether the court of appeals correctly applied the harmless-error rule to the trial court's erroneous admission of other-acts evidence) and *In the Interest of X.S.*, 2022 WI 49 (a reversal of a discretionary juvenile waiver decision by a trial court.). Given the nature of the rights involved in this case, it may be worthy of review by this court.

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 6 of 30

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 1, 2022, a termination of parental rights (TPR) petition was filed regarding M.M.M.'s child in Waukesha County case number 22 TP 41. (Document, 3:1) The petitioner was the Waukesha County Department of Health & Human Services (DHSS). *Id*.

The petition alleged two unfitness grounds: 1) Continuing CHIPS, under Wis. Stat. sec. 48.415(2), and 2) Failure to Assume Parental Responsibility, under Wis. Stat. sec. 48.415(6). M.M.M. appeared before the circuit court and indicated her desire to contest the petitions. (126:6) A jury trial was demanded. *Id*.

The case was adjourned for various reasons and a jury was impaneled on November 13, 2023. (135:1)

## **Jury Trial**

Testimony at the jury trial included witnesses Shimona Seabrook, M.M.M., Cynthia Nation, Alyssa Jones, April Behounek and Laura Miller.

Of note, M.M.M. testified to the following:

M.M.M. discussed and was able to describe her son's birth, and her pregnancy. (135:138) She admitted to using prescribed Suboxone daily for opioid addiction, relapsing with Oxycodone, using cocaine, and smoking cigarettes. (135:139) N.V.M. was born positive for opiates and cocaine. (135:139) Due to her substance abuse, the

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 7 of 30

Waukesha County Department of Health and Human Services deemed her care unsafe, leading to N.V.M.'s removal. (135:140)

M.M.M. tested positive for cocaine and controlled substances after childbirth. (135:141) She lived with her family in Waukesha, Wisconsin, and moved around a lot afterwards, residing temporarily in hotels. (135:142)

M.M.M. admitted that she was incarcerated from May to July 2022 due to a probation violation, failure to appear, and testing positive for cocaine. (135:144) Following the release, she resided with her grandfather and then had housing through Welfare Warriors. (135:145) The housing situation changed due to the needs of another family. M.M.M. described living in hotels paid for by her grandfather, with her mother accompanying her. (135:144-45)

M.M.M. testified to her familiarity with the 2020 disposition order and described the conditions for return, including proving empathy for her son, creating a safety plan, and reporting to probation. (135:145) M.M.M. testified that she complied with these conditions. (135:145) She discussed struggles with heroin and cocaine addiction, the last usage in March 2023, multiple relapses, and positive tests for different substances such as fentanyl. M.M.M. also detailed her engagement in various treatment programs, including a Suboxone program, intensive outpatient program (IOP), dual diagnosis therapy, and PTSD-specific EMDR therapy. (135:146-7)

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 8 of 30

M.M.M. testified that she was involvement in various treatment programs through the 16th Street Clinic, including AODA, Suboxone, and EMDR therapy, often highlighting issues with consistency and transportation. (135:147) She did admit to testing positive for multiple substances during her treatment. (135:149)

M.M.M. was asked about her refusal to engage in random drug testing and clarified that she did not refuse but was already being tested elsewhere. (135:150) She testified about incidents involving illegal substances found in a hotel room, a traffic stop with pills, and a probation warrant leading to her going into custody. (135:151)

M.M.M. addressed her engagement with therapy recommended by the Waukesha County Department of Human Services and the details surrounding her compliance with mental health conditions. (135:152) She also described her experiences with a second psychological evaluation, communication with the Department, and issues with keeping in contact due to phone problems. (135:154)

M.M.M. described her issues with phone communication and acknowledged avoiding phone contact with Ms. Girman due to feeling stressed, and despite being suggested other communication methods, did not utilize them. (135:154) M.M.M. also testified about her mixed feelings about the assistance from parenting aide Sara Matson, including a point of contention regarding advice on child bribing, and ultimately discontinued her services. (135:155)

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 9 of 30

Additionally, M.M.M. described her relationship with Nathan Majewski beginning in November 2022 and her subsequent cohabitation. (135:156) M.M.M. testified about a four-month abusive relationship with Mr. Majewski. (135:157) She detailed a police-involved incident that led to charges against Mr. Majewski and a nocontact order. (135:157) Despite this, the relationship continued, leading to issues at the 16th Street Clinic. (135:158) M.M.M. later had intermittent contact with Mr. Majewski, although they are no longer in a relationship. (135:158)

Regarding visits with N.V.M., visits initially took place at M.M.M.'s aunt's house and happened almost every weekend, sometimes lasting up to three days. (135:159-60) Concerns about M.M.M. being under the influence during visits were raised. (135:160) Visits were later transferred to M.M.M.'s home and became virtual after a certain period. (135:161)

M.M.M. testified to her history of attending virtual visits and attempts to switch to in-person visits, acknowledging some inconsistencies. (135:162) She also provided information about her child's daycare, healthcare, and speech therapy, including missed doctor's appointments due to not being informed of dates. (135:163)

M.M.M. initially questioned the decision to provide N.V.M. with speech therapy, feeling it was for the foster mom's benefit. (135:164-65) She admitted to defending him but was open to necessary care. (135:165) She has never spoken to the speech therapist and confirmed that N.V.M. was never in her care. (135:165) She has

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 10 of 30

not been employed, but she has bought gifts and paid \$500 in child support. (135:165-66)

M.M.M. saved money from allowances and received financial help from her grandfather. (135:166) She admitted that she was not the primary caretaker for N.V.M. and did not care for N.V.M. daily. (135:166) M.M.M. admitted that she had been convicted of three crimes. (135:167)

Ms. M.M.M. discussed her PTSD diagnosis, received as a teenager before her pregnancy with N.V.M., and her EMDR treatment during the case. She elaborated on experiencing childhood trauma, being placed in foster care at age 15, and her involvement with the child welfare system.

Ms. M.M.M. testified that she could not sleep in the days leading up to the court appearance due to crying and worry. (152:193) She first learned about Welfare Warriors after seeking advice from Milwaukee Child Protective Services. (152:194) Welfare Warriors assisted her in securing housing and provided support through her caseworker, Amada, who attended family team meetings. (152:194-95) M.M.M. frequently asked her caseworker, Ms. Girman, for guidance on how to regain custody of her child, N.V.M., but was always instructed to re-read the conditions. (152:195)

M.M.M. frequently told to just reread the conditions of return, but with not addition detail or explanation. *Id*.

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 11 of 30

M.M.M. recalls meeting Gibba Solorzano at the hospital and clarified the Suboxone refusal incident. (152:198) M.M.M. describes the hospital stay, attempts to visit her son, and actions post-discharge, including a visit from Gibba and subsequent urine testing. (152:199) She discussed turning herself into jail and her actions upon release. (152:199)

M.M.M.'s son was placed with her aunt, causing tension due to family dynamics. (152:200-201) She faced challenges during visits but continued seeing her son. (152:201) N.V.M. was moved and visits occurred at Parents Place, where she admits that she fell asleep during one. (152:201) M.M.M. stated she would not allow her mom near N.V.M. and emphasized the importance of regulating who is around her son. (152:202) She testified that she has obtained her driver's license and is applying for SSI independently. (152:202)

M.M.M. describes a hit-and-run incident where she was run over while doing laundry. (152:202-3) She detailed the incident, the aftermath, and her injuries, which include broken ribs, a brain cyst, and internal injuries. (152:203-5). She was hospitalized for over a week and indicated she couldn't move due to the severity of her injuries. (152:205) Ms. M.M.M. discussed her follow-ups with doctors concerning her health issues, including the potential need for surgery on a cyst in her brain and concerns about her liver and spleen. (152:193)

After testimony and argument, the jury returned verdicts against M.M.M. regarding each unfitness ground (102:1-3, 148:88).

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 12 of 30

The court found parental unfitness based on the jury verdicts. (148:93). The matter was set over for disposition. *Id*.

## **Disposition Hearing**

The dispositional hearing took place on November 29, 2023. (147:1) Testimonies were heard from S.R., the foster parent, Abbey Girman, grandfather, K.V., Amanda Morales-Zamudio, and M.M.M.

The court heard the parties' arguments before finding that terminating M.M.M.'s parental rights was in the best interest of N.V.M. (147:93, 116:1)

Among the testimony at the disposition hearing was the following:

M.M.M.'s grandfather, K.V., testified and discussed his interactions during video visits and the activities they engage in, such as pretending to cook. (147:46) He expressed a strong bond with N.V.M. and indicated a willingness to support M.M.M. and stay involved regardless of court matters. (147:49-50, 147:53)

K.V. testified and described his visits with his grandson, N.V.M., emphasizing his excitement upon their arrival and his love for playing with a toy kitchen. (147:51) He recounted their activities at visits, such as coloring, reading, and watching Mickey Mouse. (147:51)

M.M.M. also testified to her bond with N.V.M. (147:55). M.M.M. also shared several moments with N.V.M. (147:55). One time he wanted her to watch him fall asleep, highlighting their

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 13 of 30

bonding time. (147:55) She described N.V.M. is very observant and often talks about a deer he saw in the backyard. (147:55) He repeatedly checks for the deer, feeling afraid. (147:55) He also shows great affection for his grandfather, wanting to show him everything and seeking his praise. (147:57) N.V.M. becomes concerned if Mr. Vanderpool leaves the room and actively looks for him. (147:57)

She testified about N.V.M.'s speech difficulties and efforts to assist him. (147:57-58) N.V.M. had problems with ending words, and Stephanie helped track his progress. (147:58) Visits were three hours, with natural coordination. (147:60) N.V.M. often struggled by not wanting to leave visits, particularly when transitioning between caretakers. (147:60) N.V.M. frequently wanted to extend the visits. *Id*.

M.M.M. testified about the time N.V.M. spent with the S.R., his reaction to family visits, what he calls his relatives, medical care releases, missed appointments, and an encounter in a parking lot.

She testified about a recent video visit with N.V.M., who she described as an active young man. (147:63) She used emojis and a whiteboard on Zoom to engage during visits. N.V.M., with help from Stephanie, learned to draw on the whiteboard. *Id.* Visits are screen-recorded for later viewing, and they express love during these sessions. (147:64)

M.M.M. confirmed her willingness to work with the department and agreed to meet the requirements outlined by Ms.

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 14 of 30

Girman. (147:64) She expressed her commitment to continue efforts if her parental rights are not terminated. (147:64)

M.M.M. appealed the judgment and order terminating her parental rights. (133:1) In a decision dated October 18, 2024, the court of appeals affirmed the trial court. (Appendix) M.M.M. now petitions for review.

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 15 of 30

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The finding that grounds exist to terminate M.M.M.'s parental right is clearly erroneous.

#### A. Standard of Review.

In a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the proper standard of review is a question of whether there is any credible evidence to sustain the verdict. *Sheboygan Cnty. DHHS v. Tanya M.B.*, 2010 WI 55, ¶ 49, 325 Wis.2d 524, 785 N.W.2d 369. *St. Croix County D.H.H.S.* v. *Matthew D.*, 2016 WI 35, ¶29, 368 Wis. 2d 170, 889 N.W.2d 107

B. The State is required to prove each element of both the Continuing CHIPS ground and the Failure to Assume Parental Responsibility ground for parental unfitness.

In *Evelyn C.R. v. Tykila S.*, 2001 WI 110, ¶ 21, 246 Wis.2d 1, 629 N.W.2d 768, the court said that "due to the severe nature of terminations of parental rights, termination proceedings require heightened legal safeguards against erroneous decisions. Although termination proceedings are civil proceedings, *M.W. v. Monroe County Dep't of Human Servs.*, 116 Wis. 2d 432, 442, 342 N.W.2d 410 (1984), the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution requires that "[i]n order for parental rights to be terminated, the petitioner must show by clear and convincing evidence that the termination is appropriate."" (Citing *Santosky v. Kramer*, 455 U.S. 745, 769 (1982)).

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 16 of 30

Thus, pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment and the Wisconsin Children's Code, Wis. Stat. §§ 48.31 and 48.424, in determining if grounds existed to terminate M.M.M.'s parental rights, the jury had a duty to find by clear and convincing evidence that all of the elements of § 48.415(2) had been satisfied. The court cannot sustain the verdict without evidentiary support and make an unfitness finding.

The first two elements of Continuing Chips are from Wis. Stat. § 48.415(2)(a)1-2, and they read that:

(2) Continuing need of protection or services. Continuing need of protection or services, which shall be established by proving any of the following:

(a)

- 1. That the child has been adjudged to be a child or an unborn child in need of protection or services and placed, or continued in a placement, outside his or her home pursuant to one or more court orders under s. 48.345, 48.347, 48.357, 48.363, 48.365, 938.345, 938.357, 938.363, or 938.365 containing the notice required by s. 48.356 (2) or 938.356 (2).
- **2.a.** In this subdivision, "reasonable effort" means an earnest and conscientious effort to take good faith steps to provide the services ordered by the court *which takes into consideration the characteristics of the parent* or child or of the expectant mother or child, the level of cooperation of the parent or expectant mother and other relevant circumstances of the case. (Emphasis added.)
- **b.** That the agency responsible for the care of the child and the family or of the unborn child and expectant mother has made a reasonable effort to provide the services ordered by the court. ...
  - C. The evidence was not sufficient as to the Continuing Chips ground.

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 17 of 30

As was testified on this ground was the following evidence:

M.M.M. discussed her son's birthdate, and her pregnancy. (135:138) She admitted to using prescribed Suboxone daily for opioid addiction, relapsing with Oxycodone, using cocaine, and smoking cigarettes. (135:139) N.V.M. was born positive for opiates and cocaine. (135:139) Due to her substance abuse, the Waukesha County Department of Health and Human Services deemed her care unsafe, leading to N.V.M.'s removal. (135:140)

M.M.M. tested positive for cocaine and controlled substances after childbirth. (135:141) She lived with her family in Waukesha, Wisconsin, and moved around a lot afterwards, residing temporarily in hotels. (135:142)

M.M.M. admitted that she was incarceration from May to July 2022 due to a probation violations failure to appear and testing positive for cocaine. (135:144) Following the release, she resided with her grandfather and then had housing through Welfare Warriors. (135:145) The housing situation changed due to the needs of another family. M.M.M. described living in hotels paid for by her grandfather, with her mother accompanying her. (135:144-45)

M.M.M. testified to her familiarity with the 2020 disposition order and described the conditions for return, including proving empathy for her son, creating a safety plan, and reporting to probation. (135:145) M.M.M. testified that she complied with these conditions. (135:145) She discussed struggles with heroin and cocaine addiction,

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 18 of 30

the last usage in March 2023, multiple relapses, and positive tests for different substances such as fentanyl. M.M.M. also detailed her engagement in various treatment programs, including a Suboxone program, intensive outpatient program (IOP), dual diagnosis therapy, and PTSD-specific EMDR therapy. (135:146-7)

M.M.M. testified that she was involved in various treatment programs through the 16th Street Clinic, including AODA, Suboxone, and EMDR therapy, often highlighting issues with consistency and transportation. (135:147) She did admit to testing positive for multiple substances during her treatment. (135:149)

M.M.M. was asked about her refusal to engage in random drug testing and clarified that she did not refuse but was already being tested elsewhere. (135:150) She testified about incidents involving illegal substances found in a hotel room, a traffic stop with pills, and a probation warrant leading to her going into custody. (135:151)

M.M.M. addressed her engagement with therapy recommended by the Waukesha County Department of Human Services and the details surrounding her compliance with mental health conditions. (135:152) She also described her experiences with a second psychological evaluation, communication with the Department, and issues with keeping in contact due to phone problems. (135:154)

M.M.M. described her issues with phone communication and acknowledged avoiding phone contact with Ms. Girman due to feeling

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 19 of 30

stressed, and despite being suggested other communication methods, did not utilize them. (135:154) M.M.M. also testified about her mixed feelings about the assistance from parenting aide Sara Matson, including a point of contention regarding advice on child bribing, and ultimately discontinued her services. (135:155)

Additionally, M.M.M. described her relationship with Nathan Majewski beginning in November 2022 and her subsequent cohabitation. (135:156) M.M.M. testified about a four-month abusive relationship with Mr. Majewski. (135:157) She detailed a police-involved incident that led to charges against Mr. Majewski and a nocontact order. (135:157) Despite this, the relationship continued, leading to issues at the 16th Street Clinic. (135:158) M.M.M. later had intermittent contact with Mr. Majewski, although they are no longer in a relationship. (135:158)

Regarding visits with N.V.M., visits initially took place at M.M.M.'s aunt's house and happened almost every weekend, sometimes lasting up to three days. (135:159-60) Concerns about M.M.M. being under the influence during visits were raised. (135:160) Visits were later transferred to M.M.M.'s home and became virtual after a certain period. (135:161)

M.M.M. testified to her history of attending virtual visits and attempts to switch to in-person visits, acknowledging some inconsistencies. (135:162) She also provided information about her child's daycare, healthcare, and speech therapy, including missed doctor's appointments due to not being informed of dates. (135:163)

Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 20 of 30

M.M.M. initially questioned the decision to provide N.V.M. with speech therapy, feeling it was for the foster mom's benefit. (135:164-65) She admitted to defending him but was open to necessary care. (135:165) She has never spoken to the speech therapist and confirmed that N.V.M. was never in her care. (135:165) She has not been employed, but she has bought gifts and paid \$500 in child support. (135:165-66)

The above testimony describes the efforts put forth by M.M.M. based on what was available to her for meeting the condition of return. Her efforts touched on every point mentioned in the CHIPS order and nearly beyond what was necessary to have her child returned to her care.

Furthermore, the CHIPS orders clearly stated what DHHS was required to do to assist M.M.M. with meeting her conditions of return. (89:1-15) The conditions of return read as follows:

The WCDHHS must make reasonable efforts to provide the following services to the mother to help her meet these conditions:

Case management, court related · services, AODA services parenting assessment/education, mental health services, and collaboration with Probation and Parole. (89:3)

The testimony of M.M.M. suggests that she was never given the necessary assistance that the DHHS was ordered to reasonably provide. M.M.M. frequently needed to ask her caseworker, Ms. Girman, for guidance on regaining custody of her child, N.V.M., but Case 2024AP001622 Petition for Review Filed 11-13-2024 Page 21 of 30

was always instructed to re-read the conditions. (152:195) M.M.M. was, in fact, frequently told to just reread the conditions of return but with no additional detail or explanation. *Id.* Reading the condition of return can hardly be described as "making reasonable efforts" to assist M.M.M. with meeting the condition of return.

# D. The evidence was not sufficient as to the Failure to Assume Parental Responsibility ground.

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