#### FILED 11-26-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT Case No. 2024AP001622 Circuit Court Case No. 2022TP000041

In re the Termination of Parental Rights to N.V.M., a person under the age of 18:

Waukesha County Department of Health & Human Services,

Petitioner-Respondent-Respondent,

v.

M.M.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

## **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

ERIK G. WEIDIG Waukesha County Corporation Counsel

DEMETRA CHRISTOPOULOS

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

### **ARGUMENT**

## I. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED AS REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED UNDER THE CRITERIA SET FORTH IN WIS. STAT. § 809.62(1r).

This Court should deny M.M.M.'s Petition for Review as this case does not warrant review under Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r). Supreme Court review is a matter of judicial discretion, not of right, and will be granted only when special and important reasons are presented. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r). While neither controlling nor fully measuring the Court's discretion, Wis. Stat. 809.62(1r) sets forth criteria that will be considered when determining whether special and important reasons are presented for review:

- (a) A real and significant question of federal or state constitutional law is presented.
- (b) The petition for review demonstrates a need for the supreme court to consider establishing, implementing or changing a policy within its authority.
- (c) A decision by the supreme court will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law, and
  - 1. The case calls for the application of a new doctrine rather than merely the application of well-settled principles to the factual situation; or
  - 2. The question presented is a novel one, the resolution of which will have statewide impact; or
  - 3. The question presented is not factual in nature but rather is a question of law of the type that is likely to recur unless resolved by the supreme court.
- (d) The court of appeals' decision is in conflict with controlling opinions of the United States Supreme Court or the supreme court or other court of appeals' decisions.
- (e) The court of appeals' decision is in accord with opinions of the supreme court or the court of appeals but due to the passage of time or changing circumstances, such opinions are ripe for reexamination.

Page 16 of 26

Notably, M.M.M. fails to identify a basis under which this case warrants review under any of these standards and merely states this case may be worthy of review given the nature of the rights involved. By M.M.M.'s own omission, this case does not meet any of the criteria set forth in Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r).

The court of appeals' decision was made in accordance, not in opposition, to prior decisions of this Court, and M.M.M. does not allege that error correction is being sought. The law is well-settled and clear, the court of appeals applied it appropriately, and such application was consistent with past decisions. Accordingly, review by this Court is not warranted and should be denied.

II. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED AS IT FAILS TO PRESENT OTHER SUBSTANTIAL OR COMPELLING REASONS FOR REVIEW BY THIS COURT.

This Court should deny the Petition for Review because it would amount to a review of correctness and a review of a discretionary determination by the circuit court where no error of law is alleged to have occurred. M.M.M. does not claim that an error in law occurred and is simply seeking alternative review by this Court.

- A. The court of appeals correctly concluded there was sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdicts that grounds exist to terminate M.M.M.'s parental rights.
  - i. Standard of Review and Applicable Law.

There are two phases of an involuntary termination of parental rights proceeding. <u>Oneida</u> <u>County Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Nicole W.</u>, 2007 WI 30, ¶11. During the first phase, the petitioner has the burden under Wis. Stats. § 48.31(1) to prove to the jury the alleged grounds by clear and convincing evidence. If the jury finds grounds exist to terminate a parent's rights, Wis. Stats. § 48.424(4) requires the circuit court to find the parent unfit and move to the second phase, disposition.

The County asserted two grounds to terminate M.M.M.'s parental rights. The first ground, continuing need of protection or services, required the County to prove that (1) the child has been placed outside of the home for a cumulative total period of six months or longer pursuant a dispositional order; (2) the parent has failed to meet the conditions established for the safe return of the child to the home; and (3) the agency responsible for the care of the child has made a reasonable effort to provide the services ordered by the court. Wis. Stats. § 48.415(2)(a).

The second ground for termination, failure to assume parental responsibility, required the County to prove that the parent has not had a substantial relationship with the child to establish the ground of failure to assume parental responsibility. Wis. Stat. § 48.415(6)(a). Wis. Stats. § 48.415(6)(b) defines a substantial parental relationship as

the acceptance and exercise of significant responsibility for the daily supervision, education, protection and care of the child. In evaluating whether the person has had a substantial parental relationship with the child, the court may consider such factors, including, but not limited to, whether the person has expressed concern for or interest in the support, care or well-being of the child, whether the person has neglected or refused to provide care or support for the child and whether, with respect to a person who is or may be the father of the child, the person has expressed concern for or interest in the support, care or well-being of the mother during her pregnancy.

The court is to examine the totality of the circumstances and should consider a parent's actions throughout the entirety of the child's life when determining whether the parent has assumed parental responsibility. <u>Tammy W-G v. Jacob T.</u>, 2011 WI 30, ¶¶22-23, 333 Wis. 2d 273, 797 N.W.2d 854 (2011).

Whether the evidence presented to a jury is sufficient to sustain its verdict is a question of law. <u>Sheboygan Cnty. Dep't of Health & Human Servs. v.</u> <u>Tanya M.B.</u>, 2010 WI 55, ¶18. "A jury's verdict must be sustained if there is any credible evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict, to support it." <u>Id.</u>  $\P49$ .

ii. The sufficiency of the evidence was adequately addressed by the court of appeals.

M.M.M. fails to identify how the court of appeals erred in its decision that there was credible evidence to sustain the jury's verdicts. Instead, she merely reasserts her arguments previously raised to the court of appeals. In doing so, M.M.M. has not demonstrated any error in fact or law that warrants this Court's review.

It is undisputed that the court of appeals applied the correct legal standard of review in determining whether there was sufficient evidence to establish grounds for termination found by the jury. M.M.M. only argues that the evidence adduced at trial was not sufficient to sustain the jury's verdicts. This Court ordinarily does not review questions concerning the sufficiency of the evidence. <u>State v.</u> <u>Minued,</u> 141 Wis. 2d 325, 328, 415 N.W.2d 515 (Wis. 1987). This Court has previously stated that it is not this Court's institutional role to perform this error correcting function. <u>Id</u>.

Notwithstanding, it is important to note that the court of appeals examined all the testimony and other evidence presented in analyzing whether any credible evidence supported the jury's verdict for both

grounds. The court of appeals noted that M.M.M. focused her argument solely on her testimony and a review of the evidence could not be so circumscribed. The court of appeals appropriately addressed each element to establish continuing need of protection of services under § 48.415(2)(a) and determined that Ms. Girman's testimony provided credible evidence to support the jury's verdict.

The court of appeals considered the testimony of M.M.M. and appropriately concluded that her testimony was not sufficient to show the absence of any credible evidence in the record to show that she failed to assume parental responsibility for N.V.M. The court of appeals found that Ms. Girman's testimony, when viewed in the light most favorable to the jury's verdict, was sufficient to sustain it. M.M.M. fails to identify how the court of appeals erred in its conclusion.

The petition for review should be denied. The court of appeals applied the correct legal standard and examined all testimony and evidence presented in finding credible evidence to support the jury's verdicts. Because the issue presented for review involves the sufficiency of the evidence, and because the issue does not meet the criteria for reviewing court of appeals' decisions, the petition for review should be denied.

B. The court of appeals' order affirming the decision of the circuit court to terminate

M.M.M.'s parental rights was based upon a proper view of the law.

i. Standard of Review and Applicable Law

At the dispositional phase, the circuit court determines whether it is in the child's best interest to terminate a parent's rights. Oneida County Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Nicole W., 2007 WI 30, ¶13. The circuit court properly exercises its discretion when it "examines the relevant facts, applies a proper standard of law, and using a demonstrated rational process reaches a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." State v. B.W., 2024 WI 28, ¶70 (citing Dane Cnty. Dep't of Human Servs. v. Mable K., 2013 WI 28, ¶39). The circuit court must make its findings on the record, consider the standard and factors in Wisconsin Statutes § 48.426(3), and explain the basis for its disposition. Sheboygan County HHS v. Julie A.B., 2002 WI 95, 255 Wis. 2d 170, 187-88, 648 N.W.2d 402 (2002).

In deciding whether to terminate parental rights, the circuit court must give paramount consideration to the best interests of the child, which constitutes the prevailing factor. In considering the best interests of the child, the court shall consider but not be limited to the following factors under Wis. Stats. § 48.426:

- (a) The likelihood of the child's adoption after termination.
- (b) The age and health of the child, both at the time of the disposition and, if applicable, at the time the child was removed from the home.
- (c) Whether the child has substantial relationships with the parent or other family members, and whether it would be harmful to the child to sever these relationships.
- (d) The wishes of the child.
- (e) The duration of the separation of the parent from the child.
- (f) Whether the child will be able to enter into a more stable and permanent family relationship as a result of the termination, taking into account the conditions of the child's current placement, the likelihood of future placements and the results of prior placements.

Great deference is accorded to a circuit court's decision to terminate a parent's rights, and that decision will only be overturned based on an erroneous exercise of the trial court's discretion. <u>State v. S.A.</u>, 2023 WI App 62, ¶24; <u>Rock County</u> <u>Dept. of Social Services. v. K.K.</u>, 162 Wis. 2d 431, 441, 469 N.W.2d 881 (Ct. App. 1991). The court of appeals appropriately found the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in determining it was in N.V.M.'s best interest to terminate M.M.M.'s parental rights. ii. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it terminated M.M.M.'s parental rights.

M.M.M. does not plead any allegations of error and is simply seeking alternative review by this Court. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion to terminate M.M.M.'s parental rights because it examined all relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law and, using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach.

The circuit court applied the proper standard of law when it terminated M.M.M.'s parental rights. The circuit court considered the best interests of the child standard and conducted a thorough analysis of each of the required factors under § 48.426, addressing each factor in turn, and providing its rationale for emphasizing certain factors. The circuit court record reflects an adequate consideration of and weight of each factor under § 48.426. M.M.M. reasserts her previous arguments raised before the court of appeals and argues that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion because it emphasized her struggle with addiction and did not sufficiently account for her love for her son or recent efforts to be in his life. M.M.M.'s analysis ends there, providing no further discussion as to how this was an erroneous exercise of discretion or providing any further context.

Page 24 of 26

The court of appeals properly reviewed the circuit court's decision to terminate M.M.M.'s parental rights under the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard. Upon review of the circuit court ruling, the court of appeals determined that the circuit court properly considered M.M.M.'s relationship with N.V.M., appropriately weighed each factor under § 48.426, and made its decision based upon N.V.M.'s best interest. The court of appeals concluded that the circuit court properly exercised its discretion because it examined the relevant facts. applied the proper standard of law and, using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach when it determined it was in N.V.M.'s best interest to terminate M.M.M.'s parental rights. The court of appeals properly affirmed the decision of the circuit court to terminate M.M.M.'s parental rights.

Accordingly, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it terminated M.M.M.'s parental rights. The court of appeals' decision affirming the decision of the circuit court is consistent with controlling opinions of this Court and was based upon a proper view of the law. On this basis, the petition for review should be denied.

## CONCLUSION

Based on the record and aforementioned arguments, Waukesha County respectfully requests this Court deny M.M.M.'s petition for review. Dated this 26th day of November, 2024.

Electronically signed by: ERIK G. WEIDIG Waukesha County Corporation Counsel

Electronically signed by: DEMETRA CHRISTOPOULOS Principal Assistant Corporation Counsel State Bar No. 1068398 Attorneys for Petitioner-Respondent Waukesha County Corporation Counsel Office 515 W. Moreland Blvd., Room AC-330 Waukesha, WI 53188 262-548-7432 dchristopoulos@waukeshacounty.gov